

## Alvernia University

# John and Karen Arnold School of Nursing

**Master of Science in Nursing** 

**Student Handbook** 

AY 2025-2026

## ALVERNIA UNIVERSITY MSN PROGRAM

### Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	5
Accreditations and Approvals	7
Nursing Department Mission Statement	7
Alvernia Nursing Program Outcomes	7
Nursing Education and Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration	
Student Learning Outcomes	8
Alvernia University Graduate Outcomes	8
Professional Standards and Guidelines	9
Ethics	9
Statement of Mission and Values in Academic Life	
Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct Standards	
Core Franciscan Values of Alvernia University	10
Honor Code	10
Sigma Theta Tau _ International Nursing Honor Society	11
Program Structure: Schematic Drawing	13
NURSING LEADERSHIP AND HEALTHCARE ADMINISTRATION and NUI EDUCATION	RSING
Program Structure: Nursing Education Track	
Program Structure: Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration Track.	
Program Evaluation and Assessment of Outcomes	
Matriculation	19
Maintenance of Matriculation	19
Leave of Absence	
Fime Limit	19
Transfer of Graduate Credit	19

Academic Advisement	20
Academic Probation/Academic Dismissal	20
Clinical and Practicum Experiences	20
Required Clinical Practice Clearances	20
Courses with Direct Care Hours, Clinical Observation and Practicum and Capsto	ne Project 21
Procedure for Obtaining Practicum Preceptors	
Roles and Responsibilities of the Preceptor	
Roles and Responsibilities of Alvernia University	
Roles and Responsibilities of the MSN Student	
Ethical Confidentiality	
Graduate Nursing Program Clinical Preceptor Agreement	24
Self-Report Health and Agency Requirements	26
Policies and References	27
Harassment Policy	
Academic Grievance Policies	27
Student Appeal of Grades	27
Formal Complaints	27
Social Media Policy	27
Professional Decorum	28
Student Portfolio Assessment	29
Purpose	29
Organization	29
Portfolio Content	29
Capstone Requirement	30
Purpose and Description	
Examples of Types of Projects for the Nursing Education Track	30
From a Nursing Education Perspective	
Examples of Types of Projects for the Nursing Leadership and Healthcard	
Administration Track	
From a Nursing Leadership perspective	
Capstone Timeline	
Roles and Responsibilities of Student	32
Roles and Responsibilities of Capstone Facilitator	
MSN Program Capstone Project Approval	33

Capstone Assessment Rubric	34
STUDENT'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF HANDBOOK	36

#### INTRODUCTION

The Master of Science Degree in Nursing (MSN) Handbook is designed to supplement the Alvernia University Graduate Catalog. It has been prepared with policies specific to the John and Karen School of Nursing.

The policies contain essential requirements in the preparation of nurses in leadership and education roles both academically and clinically in accord with the Mission of Alvernia University, the outcomes of the MSN Program, and the outcomes proposed by professional nursing standards. The contents of this Handbook are provided for the information of the student. It is accurate at the time of printing but is subject to change as deemed appropriate by the University in order to fulfill its role and mission or by a professional nursing organization specifically impacting the MSN Program. Changes may be implemented without prior notice and without obligation, and, unless specified otherwise, are effective when made. Any changes will be promptly communicated to all students through Alvernia email and other means as appropriate.

Students are required to read this Handbook each academic year while the MSN Program.

**Graduate Catalog** 

Organization

#### **Accreditations and Approvals**

The MSN Program has approval from the Department of Education for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and meets all accreditation standards for the Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education (CCNE). The master's degree in nursing at Alvernia University is accredited by the Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education (www.ccneaccreditation.org).

#### **Nursing Department Mission Statement**

The John and Karen Arnold School of Nursing programs are designed to function within the overall educational framework and in accord with the Mission Statement of Alvernia University. The Programs provide students with an education in the Catholic intellectual tradition, combining liberal arts, professional education, and ethical values. Learning takes place within a caring Franciscan environment, emphasizing respect for the dignity of all human beings and the call to serve others. Christian values are blended with the professional competence to provide the student with knowledge and skills to serve in health care settings with diverse populations. Faculty and students work together to increase understanding of each other and clients with different cultural backgrounds and perspectives. Graduates are prepared to be reflective practitioners with high moral integrity, engaged in lifelong learning.

#### **Alvernia Nursing Program Outcomes**

- Prepare learners for evidence-based, clinically competent professional practice that serves diverse populations within a rapidly changing healthcare practice and delivery system.
- Develop professional nurses to contribute to the discipline through practice, research, education, and leadership.
- Serve regional communities by educating nurses at the general or graduate levels.
- Demonstrate Catholic Franciscan values through community leadership and service opportunities.

#### Nursing Education and Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration

The MSN graduate is prepared for expanded roles in nursing education or administration positions. The Nursing Education track prepares the MSN graduate to practice as a nurse educator in a health-care facility or a pre-licensure educational program at baccalaureate, associate degree, and hospital diploma-based programs. Students develop expertise in curriculum development and implementation, instructional skills and strategies, the development and use of educational technology, and educational assessment and evaluation.

The Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration track prepares the MSN graduate to practice as a nurse manager or executive in the healthcare system. Students develop competencies in understanding the delivery of healthcare from a regional, national, and global perspective, key concepts of business management, budgeting processes, management of human

resources, tools and strategies to manage quality initiatives, and how to develop and implement a strategic plan to attain performance excellence.

Specific knowledge, skills and attributes of the MSN program are organized into seven outcome areas:

- Evidence-based nursing theory and practice
- Information management and technology skills
- Organizational leadership
- Quality and performance improvement
- Health policy and advocacy
- Ethical considerations in practice, leadership and education roles
- Interprofessional communication and collaboration

#### **Student Learning Outcomes**

- Demonstrate specialized knowledge as nurse educators or nurse administrators.
- Apply research and theory to develop, implement, and evaluate evidence-based practice that informs health care decision making.
- Integrate ethical standards across a wide range of practice, leadership and education roles and settings.
- Demonstrate characteristics of effective leadership in nursing education or administrative settings.
- Communicate effectively to a variety of audiences and settings.

#### **Alvernia University Graduate Outcomes**

Students should be aware that the outcomes of John and Karen Arnold School of Nursing graduate program align with those outcomes expected of all Alvernia University students obtaining graduate degrees. The following learning outcomes are consistent with the specific nursing outcomes and are listed in the Graduate Catalog.

Specific knowledge, skills, and values inherent as outcomes in Alvernia Graduate programs are organized into five competency areas:

- Interprofessional collaboration
  - Relationship management
  - Decision making based upon theoretical concepts
- Knowledge of discipline
  - Evidence based knowledge and practice
  - Continuous quality improvement to achieve outcomes
  - Professional behaviors
- Effective Communication
  - Advanced scholarly writing and oral communication

- Information management and technology skills
- Ethical considerations and leadership
  - Advocacy individual, organization, community, global
  - Ethical and moral leadership
  - Social justice
- Research Skills
  - Quantitative and/or qualitative methods
  - Effective communication
  - Information literacy

#### **Professional Standards and Guidelines**

The MSN Program is based on national standards as outlined in the following documents: *The Essentials of Masters Education for Professional Practice* (AACN, 2011, 2021); *The Scope of Practice for Academic Nurse Educators and Clinical Nurse Educators* (NLN, 2020); *Nurse Executive Competencies* (AONE, 2015) and, *American Nurses Association Code of Ethics* (ANA, 2015).

#### **Ethics**

#### Statement of Mission and Values in Academic Life

The School of Nursing supports the Alvernia University Statement of Mission and Values in Academic Life. This is in conjunction with the professional nursing standards of conduct.

- Franciscan higher education provides a value system seeking integration of all academic disciplines and a curriculum that acknowledges these values as a transforming force in the light of the Gospel.
- Those who acknowledge this value system also recognize that we are to be "in relationship" with all our brothers and sisters in respectful, loving and compassionate concern for each other.

#### Therefore, we

- Support peace and non-violence by respecting diversity and affirming the dignity of everyone in our University community.
- Practice civility and courtesy in our daily conversation and behaviors.

In light of the issues raised and understanding that the solution lies primarily in our living according to the Franciscan values we support, the Alvernia University faculty should continue to explore creative opportunities for integrating our core values and the mission statement into academic life thereby recognizing moral development across the curriculum as a priority at the University.

#### **Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct Standards**

The MSN Program adopts the American Nurses Association (ANA, 2015) Code of Ethics and the *Professional & Vocational Standards* (Title 49, Chapter 21), *Pennsylvania Code* (July 4, 2015) as a guide for professional nurse behavior. These standards are based on an understanding that to practice nursing as an MSN student is an agreement to uphold the trust with which society has placed in us. The statements of the Code and Standards provide guidance for the MSN student in the personal development of an ethical foundation. They are not limited strictly to the academic or clinical environment but can assist in the holistic development of the person.

#### **Core Franciscan Values of Alvernia University**

Alvernia's mission and Franciscan identity are the course of the five Core Values, service, humility, peacemaking, contemplation, and collegiality. They are rooted in the traditional values of the Gospel even as they speak to our culture and time. They have continued throughout the centuries to inform a way of life, a view of the world, and a definition of our relationship with God and others that is perhaps more relevant in our society than ever before. At Alvernia, these values build a foundation for ethical decision-making, for curriculum development, for thoughtful reflection, and for personal relationships as we pursue our goals in higher education. As members of the Alvernia community, each of us can live these values and be transformed discovering a life of meaning, purpose, and eternal promise.

#### **Honor Code**

Alvernia University's mission includes developing ethical leaders with moral courage. To uphold that mission, members of the Alvernia community promise to act in ways that are honest and principled and bring honor to the university. As members of the Alvernia community, we commit to uphold the highest academic standards, based on honesty, trust, fairness, respect, and responsibility. We promise to act with the highest degree of integrity and moral courage in regard to our behavior and those we observe.

Breaches of honesty include (but are not limited to):

- Failure to cite a source, whether deliberately or unintentionally/ accidentally.
- Copying, paraphrasing, or summarizing from any published or unpublished source without citing. This would include any online source.
- Deliberately or unintentionally/accidentally presenting as your own work the words or ideas of another.
- Using the words of others without quotation marks enclosing those words.
- Copying a paper, parts of a paper, or submitting any work that is not your own.
- Putting your name on group work when you did not significantly contribute to the work of the group.
- Putting the name of another student on work when that person did not significantly contribute to the paper or work.
- Submitting as one's own, parts or the whole of another person's paper, exam/ test
- answers, essay, reflective writing, computer program, work of art, or musical composition

Everything submitted to a faculty member (Professor/Instructor) for a grade/credit/assessment is subject to the Honor Code Policy. It is the student's responsibility to clarify with the faculty member whether they can receive help/collaborate on an assignment, project, or assessment and the kind of help/collaboration allowed, including atificial intelligence.

#### Sigma Theta Tau \_ International Nursing Honor Society

Graduate Membership Criteria for Sigma Theta Tau International (STTI) Upsilon Zeta Chapter #460 at Alvernia University is by invitation. For the graduate student, membership eligibility is determined by participation in an accredited program of post-baccalaureate study in nursing including master, post-master, doctoral and post-doctoral studies, and/or through nursing leadership within the community. Students must have a demonstrated record of academic achievement, academic integrity and professional leadership potential. Those who have achieved such excellence and would be eligible for membership as determined by the current By-Laws of STTI and Chapter #460 will be notified during the annual Upsilon Zeta induction cycle and may accept membership at that time by following the membership application procedure.

Further information on Sigma Theta Tau may be found online at <a href="https://www.sigmanursing.org">https://www.sigmanursing.org</a>

## Curriculum

#### **Program Structure: Schematic Drawing**

## NURSING LEADERSHIP AND HEALTHCARE ADMINISTRATION and NURSING EDUCATION

NURSING LEADERSHIP AND HEALTHCARE
ADMINISTRATION TRACK

CORE COURSES
FOR
ALL TRACKS

NURSING EDUCATION TRACK

NUR 515
EFFECTIVE LEADERSHIP IN
HEALTHCARE
ORGANIZATIONS

COR 520 ETHICS AND MORAL LEADERSHIP NUR 530 ADVANCED HEALTH ASSESSMENT

NUR 525 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT FOR HEALTHCARE LEADERS NUR 550 PROFESSIONAL NURSING THEORY AND RESEARCH NUR 540 ADVANCED PATHOPHYSIOLOGY/ PHARMACOLOGY

NUR 535 HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT IN HEALTHCARE NUR 570 HEALTHCARE INFORMATICS

NUR 560 POLICY AND CURRICULUM

NUR 625 LEADERSHIP IN ADVANCED ADMINISTRATIVE PRACTICE ROLES NUR 611
INTERPROFESSIONAL
COLLABORATION LEADERSHIP
SKILLS TO INCREASE CULTURAL
COMPETENCY

NUR 630 MEASURING EDUCATIONAL OUTCOMES

NUR 635 HEALTH POLICY, POLITICS AND ADVOCACY NUR 633 EVIDENCE BASED PRACTICE TO IMPROVE POPULATION HEALTH

NUR 640 EVIDENCE-BASED TEACHING PRACTICE

NUR 643
APPLICATION OF ADVANCED
NURSING STRATEGIES:
PRACTICUM

ROLE SYNTHESIS CAPSTONE NUR 651: NURSE EDUCATOR NUR 652: NURSING LEADERSHIP

#### **Program Structure: Nursing Education Track**

The 36-credit *MSN Program Nursing Education* track is designed for professional nurses who are seeking a career in nursing education. In this track students will learn about instructing pre-licensure nursing students in classroom, clinical, and nursing simulation lab settings, teaching new and experienced RNs new skills in staff development positions, and planning innovative strategies to facilitate the learning process. An in-depth study in the area of nursing education and a selected clinical practice focus are required. Application of theory and research principles to a focused educational issue or problem of special interest to the student is evidenced in a capstone project

Interdisciplinary Course (3 credits)				
COR 520	Ethics and Moral Leadership	3 credits		
Nursing Prac	ctice Courses (6 credits)			
NUR 530	Advanced Health Assessment	3 credits		
NUR 540	Advanced Pathophysiology/Pharmacology	3 credits		
Nursing Edu	cation Courses (9 credits)			
NUR 560	Policy and Curriculum	3 credits		
NUR 630	Measuring Educational Outcomes	3 credits		
NUR 640	Evidence-Based Teaching Practice 3 credits			
Core Nursin	g Education and Nursing Leadership Courses (18 credits)			
NUR 550	Professional Nursing Theory and Research	3 credits		
NUR 570	Healthcare Informatics	3 credits		
NUR 611	Interprofessional Collaboration: Leadership Skills to Increase Cultural	3 credits		
	Competency			
NUR 633	Evidence-Based Practice to Improve Population Health 3 credits			
NUR 643	Application of Advanced Nursing Strategies: Practicum*	3 credits		
NUR 651	Nurse Educator Role Synthesis: Capstone*	3 credits		
*Take in final 12 credits				

#### **Explanation of a Direct Care Component**

To address *The Essentials of Master's Education*, students in the Graduate Nursing Program complete direct care component hours. Faculty designated the following courses as having a direct care component either through assignments or practicum experiences: NUR 550 (Core Course), NUR 530 (Nursing Education Course), NUR 540 (Nursing Education Course). The direct care hours are in addition to the focused practicum (100 hours) allocated to NUR 643, Application of Advanced Nursing Strategies Practicum.

A direct care component provides opportunities for students to demonstrate a greater depth and breadth of knowledge and a greater synthesis of data of a topic within their own area of clinical specialty. Faculty operationalized direct care hours as the following: two hours of direct care is equal to one hour of class time. For example: In a three-credit course with a direct care component, 32 hours are face-to-face or on-line sessions and 20 hours are direct care hours (2:1 for a direct care component).

Direct care refers to a professional encounter between a nurse and patient (individual, family, groups, community, or aggregate), either face to face or virtual, that is intended to achieve specific health goals or achieve selected health outcomes. Direct care may be provided in a wide range of settings, including acute and critical care, long-term care, home health, community-based settings, and telehealth (AACN, 2021; Suby, 2009; Upenieks, et al., 2007).

Program Structure: Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration Track
The 36-credit *MSN Program Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration* track is designed to develop qualities and skills to be effective nursing leaders within local, regional, or national healthcare settings. Students in this track are prepared to be an integral member and leader of decision-making teams. An in-depth study in the area of nursing leadership and administration is required. Application of theory and research principles is

Interdisciplinary Course (3 credits)				
COR 520	Ethics and Moral Leadership			
Nursing Lea	dership and Healthcare Administration Courses (9 credits)			
NUR 515	Effective Leadership in Healthcare Organizations	3 credits		
NUR 525	Financial Management for Healthcare Leaders	3 credits		
NUR 535	Human Resources Management in Healthcare Organizations	3 credits		
NUR 625	Leadership in Advanced Administrative Practice Roles	3 credits		
NUR 635	Health Policy, Politics and Advocacy	3 credits		
Core Nursii	ng Education and Nursing Leadership Courses (18 credits)			
NUR 550	Professional Nursing Theory and Research	3 credits		
NUR 570	Healthcare Informatics	3 credits		
NUR 611	IUR 611 Interprofessional Collaboration: Leadership Skills to Increase Cultural 3 cred			
Competency				
NUR 633	UR 633 Evidence-Based Practice to Improve Population Health 3 credits			
NUR 643	Application of Advanced Nursing Strategies: Practicum	3 credits		
NUR 652	Nursing Leadership Role Synthesis: Capstone*	3 credits		
*Take in final 12 credits				

#### **Program Evaluation and Assessment of Outcomes**

evidenced in a capstone project.

The MSN Program evaluation processes are folded into current University-wide and School of Nursing evaluation practices. The Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education (CCNE) Accreditation Standards ensures comprehensive, ongoing evaluation from every level of the curriculum and internal/external consumer.

The purposes of the John & Karen Arnold School of Nursing MSN program evaluation processes are to systematically assess curriculum, instruction, student outcomes, identify areas of challenge and opportunities for improvement, and facilitate program improvement. The processes of collecting, analyzing, and providing data for reports to State agencies, accrediting agencies, and governing bodies are key to program evaluation.

Multiple data sources from students, faculty, and employers are used to assess student learning and

evaluate the MSN Program.

Students and faculty will be engaged in the on-going process of reflection and self-evaluation to assess their personal and professional development as they develop competencies and apply knowledge. These opportunities for self-evaluation will foster professional independence and critical thinking. Student successwill be judged bu studetns' mastery of the knowledge and competencies, combined with their understanding of the attitudes and values that link their master's education to responsible professional practice as they continue to develop their professional expertise in an increasingly complex health care environment.

#### **Guidelines and Policies**

#### Matriculation

A matriculated MSN student is one who has been accepted officially into the MSN Program. Students with full graduate status may opt for full-time or part-time enrollment.

A non-matriculated student is one who is taking a course for credit but has not yet been officially accepted into the MSN Program. A non-matriculated student may take up to six (6) credits in the MSN Program prior to matriculation.

#### **Maintenance of Matriculation**

A matriculated MSN student is required to enroll in at least two (2) semesters (fall, spring, or summer) per calendar year. Students who do not apply for a leave of absence and have not completed at least one (1) course in two (2) semesters during a calendar year will be dropped from the program. Students may petition for readmission by submitting a letter of intent.

#### **Leave of Absence**

Matriculated MSN students meeting the Maintenance of Matriculation policy must submit a written request for a leave of absence, with rationale to the Acting Graduate Program Director. The student and

Acting Graduate Program Director will document the leave, revised plan of study and intent to complete the MSN Program. If a student is on a leave of absence for one calendar year, then he/she must reapply (submit an application) to re-matriculate into the MSN Program. Any curriculum changes during the absence would impact the returning student.

#### **Time Limit**

The maximum timeframe for MSN Program completion is six years. If a student is on a documented leave of absence, the six-year limit continues; however, a student may petition the Graduate Program Director for additional time.

#### **Transfer of Graduate Credit**

Students who are matriculated in another nursing graduate program and wish to transfer will be considered on an individual basis. A maximum of two (2) approved courses (6 credits) or the equivalent will be accepted. Transfer courses must be from an accredited college and the student must have earned a minimum of "B" to receive transfer credit. Transfer credits do not count towards the cumulative GPA at Alvernia University.

After matriculation, students requesting to take a course off campus for transfer credit must receive written approval from the Acting Graduate Program Directors.

#### **Academic Advisement**

All students are assigned a faculty advisor upon formal acceptance to the MSN Program. An important strategy for success is meeting with a faculty advisor to review the program of study and develop a plan for completion. It is the student's responsibility to meet with their faculty advisor within two months of receiving the acceptance letter. The faculty advisor will serve the student throughout the course of the program and clarify concerns or questions as they arise.

#### Academic Probation/Academic Dismissal

Students enrolled in Graduate Programs must maintain a 3.0 grade point average throughout their program. Students who fall below a 3.0 grade point average after 6 attempted credits will be placed on Academic Probation and must meet with their advisor to select the appropriate courses to improve their academic standing. A student who has been on Academic Probation previously and falls below a 3.0 grade point average again after at least 6 more attempted credits will be Academically Dismissed. A student who has been Academically Dismissed may write an appeal letter to the Chief Nursing Officer/Associate Dean of Nursing if extenuating circumstances warrant a review of the academic record. Appeal letters should include documentation of the extenuating circumstances and at least one letter of support from the advisor or an Alvernia University instructor. A student who does not appeal or whose appeal has been unsuccessful will no longer be enrolled in a Graduate Program and will not be entitled to Financial Aid. Additional standards may apply for specific graduate programs. The Graduate Catalog can be accessed at the following link: Graduate Catalog

#### **Clinical and Practicum Experiences**

#### **Required Clinical Practice Clearances**

For compliance with healthcare regulations and facility contracts, prior to entering a course with direct care hours (NUR 550, NUR 530, NUR 540) or the clinical practice component of NUR 643: *Application of Advanced Nursing Strategies: Practicum*, and NUR 651 or NUR 652, students must provide evidence of the following items:

- Healthcare provider CPR Certification
  - o Pennsylvania Child Abuse History Clearance
    - Act 151
  - Pennsylvania Criminal Record Check
    - Act 34
  - o FBI Check if not a Pennsylvania resident for two (2) years
    - Older Adult Protective Services Act (Acts 169 and 13)
  - o FBI Check in accordance to DPW Laws in Pennsylvania
    - Acts 73, 34, 114
  - o Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Act Educational Program
  - o Copy of certificate from employer, or
  - o Certification of completion of online educational program (see HIPAA Policy)
  - Ocumentation of receiving all required immunizations Documented Tuberculin test within one (1) year. Agencies may require additional immunizations, such as influenza vaccine.

- o Photocopy of current malpractice insurance policy
- o Required OSHA and The Joint Commission educational programs for nurses
  - Electrical and fire safety
  - Bloodborne Pathogens
- o To comply with selected clinical facility requirements, the MSN student may be required to obtain a urine drug screen and/or health-related documentation.

All health clearances must be submitted via the student health portal, accessed on the Alvernia University Login page. All other clearances are submitted through COMPLIO. Please refer to the Canvas Course Page for instructions.

## Courses with Direct Care Hours, Clinical Observation and Practicum and Capstone Project

#### The following guidelines will be followed:

- All practicum experience must be performed outside of Alvernia University
- In collaboration with Course Faculty, the student is responsible for arranging a practicum preceptor and completing accompanying paperwork
- MSN students MUST complete all clinical clearances prior to the beginning of the course
- MSN students MUST wear an Alvernia University student ID card in plain sight at all times during clinical observation and practicum. Students are expected to follow the "Professional Decorum" section located in this handbook
- It is essential that students know and follow fair use laws, copyright laws, code(s) of ethics, HIPPA regulations, and good conduct guidelines to be an appropriate representative of Alvernia University and, specifically, the John & Karen Arnold School of Nursing Programs. Refer to the "Statement on the Use of Social Media"

#### **Procedure for Obtaining Practicum Preceptors**

- Faculty and student collaborate in making arrangements for a practicum preceptor. The preceptor(s) must have an MSN and at least two years experience in nursing education if in the Nursing Education track and leadership or administration if in the Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration track.
  - o If in the Nursing Education track, teaching experiences must occur in a pre-license program; however, other teaching experiences may be incorporated. If in the Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration track, the majority of the practicum must be with a nurse who is in a leadership position within a healthcare organization.
    - A copy of the preceptor's resume or curriculum vitae (CV) must be submitted to the course faculty
  - The agency leadership, such as Department Chair or Chief Nursing Officer approves the preceptor The preceptor arrangements must be completed prior to the course start-date; including all contractual paperwork

- An introductory visit is made by the student for the purpose of operationalizing the course content and expectations.
  - A course syllabus must be shared with the preceptor with a framework of expectations, dates, course outcomes, and evaluation methods.
- Two (2) copies of "The Letter of Agreement" are signed by the student, preceptor, course faculty, and Graduate Program Director. One (1) copy is maintained in the Alvernia University Nursing Department student file and the second copy is held by the preceptor.
  - o The preceptor's resume or CV will be filed with the Letter of Agreement
- All required health information is submitted via the student health portal and all required clinical practice clearances are submitted to the Academic Compliance Coordinator. If a facility and/or preceptor requests copies, it is the student's responsibility to pick up copies and take them to the preceptor. The John & Karen Arnold School of Nursing will not distribute copies to give other parties. A signed request is required from the student giving the John & Karen Arnold School of Nursing permission to copy clearance items in the student's file. The signed request will remain in the student's file.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities of the Preceptor**

A preceptor is an experienced MSN clinician or educator (if in the Nursing Education track) or experienced nurse leader (if in the Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration track) with current expert knowledge. The preceptor must provide a copy of current resume or CV to Alvernia University John & Karen Arnold School of Nursing. The role of the preceptor is to assist the MSN student to synthesize previously obtained knowledge and skills, while examining and applying set practicum objectives in the current setting. Specific activities may include:

- Orient the student to the agency/school
- Assist the student to meet practicum and personal objectives
- Assist the student in scheduling activities or assignments
- Supervise the student directly or indirectly
- Assume a liaison role in clarifying the expectations of students as learners rather than expectations of employees
- Consult with Alvernia course faculty, as necessary
- Evaluate the learning process collaboratively with the student
- Complete a systematic evaluation of the student's performance and submit the feedback to the course faculty

#### Roles and Responsibilities of Alvernia University

- Give final approval of clinical site and preceptor
  - o Meet with the preceptor and student as necessary to provide support and clarification
  - o A minimum of one visit during semester
    - An orientation or final evaluation visit may be performed via telephone or video conferencing
  - o Provide the preceptor with the course syllabus and evaluative measures
  - o Assist the student in identifying specific learning needs
  - Maintains record of student's immunizations, clearances, malpractice insurance, and completion of HIPAA, CPR, Bloodborne Pathogen, and Fire/Electrical Safety programs
  - Conduct the final evaluation of the student applying the evaluation to the final course grade.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities of the MSN Student**

- Follow all agencies' health, safety, and legal regulations, and professional code of ethics and conduct.
- Wear an Alvernia University student ID card in plain sight at all times. Follow the Professional Decorum information.
- Complete personal learning objectives and outcome measures
- Notify the preceptor/agency to report unavoidable absence as soon as possible.
- Promptly report an error of omission or commission to agency and faculty member. Follow the agency guidelines for incident reporting.
- Promptly report any illness or accident incurred during practicum experience to the agency and preceptor. The student is financially responsible for emergency treatment rendered.
- Assume all responsibility for any personal items taken to the clinical setting.
- Meet regularly with the preceptor to discuss practicum progress.
- Communicate regularly with the course faculty about clinical activities as prescribed in the syllabus

#### **Ethical Confidentiality**

All FERPA and HIPAA regulations must be followed at all times. MSN students may have access to student, client and facility records. This is confidential information and may not be used for anything except to enhance the student learning experience. Information used for journaling or case studies shall carry only the initials of the student/client and physician.

This information is to be shared only with the preceptor, course faculty, and in the classroom setting, if appropriate.

#### **Graduate Nursing Program Clinical Preceptor Agreement**

This agreement is for the purpose of providing a clinical learning experience for the Alvernia University student enrolled in the following course-

NUR 530- Advanced Health Assessment- see Course Syllabus
NUR 540-Advanced Pathopharmacology- see Course Syllabus
NUR 550- Professional Nursing Theory and Research- see Course Syllabus
NUR 633- Evidenced Base Practice to Improve Population Health-see Course Syllabus
NUR 643- Nursing Administration/Education Strategies-Practicum- see Course Syllabus
NUR 651- Nursing Education- Capstone- see Course Syllabus
NUR 652- Nursing Administration- Capstone- see Course Syllabus

#### **Roles and Responsibilities of the Preceptor:**

A preceptor is an experienced MSN clinician with current expert knowledge of practice. The role of the preceptor is to assist the MSN student to synthesize current clinical knowledge and skills at the advanced level.

The preceptor must provide a copy of a current resume or Curriculum Vita to course faculty. Specific activities may include:

- Orient the student to the agency
- Assist the student to meet practicum and personal objectives
- Supervise the student directly or indirectly
- Assume a liaison role in clarifying the expectations of students as learners rather than expectations of employees
- Consult with Alvernia course faculty as necessary
- Evaluate the learning process collaboratively with the student
- Complete a feedback form of the student's performance and submit to the course faculty.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities of Alvernia University:**

- Give final approval of clinical site and preceptor
- Meet with the preceptor and student, as necessary, to provide support and clarification
- An orientation or final evaluation visit may be performed via telephone or video conferencing
- Provide the preceptor with the course syllabus and evaluative measures
- Assist the student in identifying specific learning needs
- Maintain record of student's immunizations, clearances, malpractice insurance, and completion of HIPAA, CPR, Bloodborne Pathogen, and Fire/Electrical Safety programs if applicable to the course.
- Conduct the final evaluation of the student applying the feedback from the preceptor as appropriate.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities of the MSN Student:**

- Follow all agencies' health, safety, and legal regulations, and professional code of ethics and conduct
- Wear an Alvernia University student ID card in plain sight at all times
- Complete personal learning objectives and outcome measures
- Notify the preceptor/agency to report unavoidable absence as soon as possible
- Promptly report an error of omission or commission to agency and faculty member
- Follow agency guidelines for incident reporting
- Promptly report any illness or accident incurred during practicum experience to the agency and preceptor. The student is financially responsible for emergency treatment rendered
- Assume all responsibility for any personal items taken to the clinical setting
- Communicate regularly with course faculty about clinical activities as prescribed in the syllabus.

The preceptor and/or agency may request Alvernia University to withdraw a student for any reason that may have a detrimental effect on the service to students/clients. In addition, Alvernia University may withdraw any student from a preceptor experience should the preceptor/agency prove incompatible with the educational objectives developed for student learning.

The student, preceptor and agency agree to indemnify from all actions, suits, claims, damages and costs for damage to persons or property resulting from neglect or intentional acts or omissions of the student/preceptor resulting while participating in the practicum experience.

Student Name:		
Email:		
Preceptor Name/Signature:		<del> </del>
Agency Name:		
Email:	Preferred Phone:	
Approved for the Agency		
Name:	Preferred Phone:	
Title:		
Email:		
Approved for Alvernia University:		
Signature:	Date:	
Course Faculty		

#### **Self-Report Health and Agency Requirements**

1.		osis testing	D14	( 1,	1 . 1 :	
	Date Tes If positiv	tede, attach a copy of chest x-ray r			,	
2.	Tdan (Te	tanus-Diphtheria-Pertussis) boo	oster		Date:	
	raap (re	Td Booster required every 10		er Dat	e:	
3.	MMR (Measles, Mumps, Rubella) (Two doses required after the age of 15 months or documentation of immunity by serology):  Initial immunization date Booster date					
4.	Hepatitis	B Three (3) doses:	Date	of Series Com	pletion:	_
5.	Varicella (If no, a V	Varicella: Yes No (If no, a Varicella Zoster Vaccine or Varicella Zoster Antibody Test is recommended)				
	6.	Influenza Vaccine (Annually)			Date:	_
	7.	OSHA Bloodborne Pathogen T	Training:		Date:	_
	8.	Fire and Electrical Safety:			Date:	_
	9.	CPR Certification (attach copy	of certificate/c	eard):	Date:	_
	10.	Malpractice Liability Insurance	e (attach copy o	of policy)	Date:	_
	11.	HIPAA Educational Program (	attach copy of	certificate)	Date:	
		COVID-19 Vaccine status up-t Clearances (all require copies of		rts):		
		inal Record Check Clearance	1	,	Date:	
		Abuse History Clearance			Date:	
		rance through Cogent		_	Date:	
	FBI Clea 13.	rance (Depart of Aging) if not l Other education or compliance		•	Date: cular agency.	
			Signed			
			Print Name			Г
			rom wame			- 1

**Note:** All health clearance documents are submitted to the student's individual University Health Portal. Other clearances are submitted electronically via Complio. Please refer to the Course Canvas site for Instructions.

#### **Policies and References**

#### **Harassment Policy**

All parties affirm their complete agreement with the Harassment Policy showing no tolerance for any form of harassment.

#### **Academic Grievance Policies**

#### **Student Appeal of Grades**

Grade disputes are addressed under Alvernia University's School of Graduate academic grievence procedures. As noted in the <u>Graduate Catalog</u> students may appeal course grades

Procedures for "Due Process for Grade Appeals", "Dismissal from the Academic Program", "Dismissal from the University", and "Due Process for Dismissal from a Program or the University" can be accessed in the Graduate Catalog

#### **Formal Complaints**

A formal complaint is defined as a written expression of serious dissatisfaction related to any aspect of Alvernia University nursing programs. A formal complaint is distinguished from a dispute about a grade in a course or other course evaluation matter.

#### **Social Media Policy**

Students are expected to follow Social Medica Guidelines as outline in the Student Handbook

Student handbook-Student Handbook-Social Media Policy

#### **Professional Decorum**

Graduate students are expected to adhere to professional attire and behavioral standards which reflect a professional level of responsibility. The graduate nursing student is a representative of the nursing profession and the Alvernia University MSN Program. As such, the maintenance of a professional appearance and demeanor is expected for graduate students in all courses, within the School of Nursing, and at university related activities. This includes but is not limited to: campus observations of class, simulation, or clinical activities; participation in practica as part of coursework to meet program requirements; and MSN Program/course activities and conferences outside of the Alvernia University campus. MSN students should also act as role models for pre- licensure BSN students.

Students should dress in a professional manner. Jeans/shorts/capris, sweatpants and shirts, sandals, and casual accessories are not considered appropriate in settings as described above. Lab coats should be worn at all clinical sites, as appropriate. The program identification/name tag **MUST** be worn at clinical or practicum sites.

#### **Student Portfolio Assessment**

#### **Purpose**

The purpose of portfolio review is to prepare the graduate for success as they initiate steps for career advancement and apply for leadership and nursing education positions. The Alvernia University nursing faculty assume a mentorship role to assist each student to present tangible evidence that they have met program outcomes.

#### Organization

The Portfolio process and collection are based on the specific knowledge, skills, and attributes of the MSN program and is organized into the following seven outcome areas:

- Evidenced-based nursing theory and practice
- Information Management and Technology Skills
- Organizational Leadership
- Quality and Performance Improvement
- Health Policy
- Ethical Consideration in Advanced Practice Roles
- Interprofessional Communication and Collaboration

#### **Portfolio Content**

Students are encouraged to save sample course assignments (scholarly papers, projects, presentations) corresponding to the 7 outcomes in a portfolio binder or in an online template such as Portfolium or personal website. Students are required to schedule an appointment with the Graduate Program Director, Chief Nursing Officer or designee during the final semester of course work. Required elements of the portfolio will be reviewed by the Graduate Program Director or designee, such as the faculty member facilitating the capstone project. Feedback will be provided to students about the presentation of their documents to promote career advancement success.

Required elements are designated with an asterisk

Curriculum Vitae\*

Teaching or Leadership Philosophy\*

Samples of creative and scholarly work representing the 7 outcome areas

Capstone scholarly project and paper\*

#### **Capstone Requirement**

#### **Purpose and Description**

The purpose of the Capstone is to facilitate students during a major synthesis project that applies theory and skills acquired during coursework. The Capstone encompasses three aspects: 1) project, 2) accompanying scholarly paper, and 3) professional presentation to faculty and peers.

This guided, multi-disciplinary Capstone begins with a theoretical framework and comprehensive literature review, proceeds through an implementation phase, and concludes with an analytical outcome measurement. All three aspects of the Capstone are supported by the integration of principles from the disciplines of education and nursing and reflect the MSN Program and Student Learning Outcomes.

The project and its accompanying paper are completed in NUR 651: *Nurse Educator Role Synthesis Capstone* or NUR 652: *Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration Role Synthesis Capstone* and taken during the last 12 credit hours of MSN Program coursework.

#### **Examples of Types of Projects for the Nursing Education Track**

#### From a Nursing Education Perspective

- Outcome assessment using existing data from Alvernia University or current workplace (with permission). Examples include
  - o Longitudinal demographic trends and student success
  - o Longitudinal curriculum content area performance using ATI, National Benchmarks, etc.
- Fully developed grant proposal with nursing education focus
- Development and testing of an innovative teaching strategy or methodology (i.e.: technology)
  - Student volunteer subjects
  - o IRB approval
  - Evaluation of data
- Development of an innovative continuing education or college course
  - o Syllabus, examples of two fully developed presentations, content rubrics, and faculty evaluation measures
  - o External validation from an expert with written documentation
- Create, implement and evaluate a high-fidelity clinical simulation scenario
  - Student volunteer subjects
  - o IRB approval
  - Evaluation of data
- Evidence based project and development of a protocol/policy with an education focus. Collaborate with agency to meet mutual goals
- Publishable manuscript submitted to a peer reviewed nursing journal
- Other with approval from Graduate Program Director or Chief Nursing Officer

#### Examples of Types of Projects for the Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration Track

#### From a Nursing Leadership perspective

- Design, use, and examine healthcare performance databases to retrieve information for decision-making, planning, analysis, and improvement from current workplace or governmental agency
- Analyze policy: Appraise evidence and make recommendations of adapting administrative policy guidelines within a healthcare organization
- Quality Improvement project to develop and implement effective measure(s) to improve patient outcomes or patient and/or staff satisfaction
- Proposal to improve coordination of care within a healthcare organization
- Design and implement innovative uses of technology to improve and/or enhance patient/community/population outcomes
- Fully develop a grant proposal with a nursing leadership focus
- Analyze legislative healthcare policy and based on evidence make recommendations for support/non-support of legislative policy
- Other: with approval of Graduate Program Director or Chief Nursing Officer

<u>NOTE</u>: It is strongly recommended that only existing research/measurement instruments with published validity and reliability are accepted for outcome assessment. Self-created survey instruments may be used only after careful consideration by Capstone Facilitator and student.

#### **Capstone Timeline**

Students will be asked to indicate their intent to register for NUR 651 or NUR 652 midway through the semester prior to completing the Capstone course. The Acting Graduate Program Directors will facilitate the pairing of students and faculty facilitators based on Capstone topics and faculty expertise/workload by the end of the semester prior to taking NUR 651 or NUR 652. The Acting Graduate Program Directors reviews and gives final approval.

If the project requires IRB approval, the application should be submitted to the IRB at least three months prior to the beginning of the semester in which NUR 651 and NUR 652 are scheduled.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities of Student**

- As soon as a Capstone Facilitator is determined, students contact their Capstone Facilitator for guidance in finalizing the Capstone topic and creating an implementation timeline
- Register for NUR 651 or NUR 652
- Complete approval form and obtain required signatures by the end of the semester prior to or at the start of the semester for NUR 651 and NUR 652
- Acquire appropriate approvals such as IRB and facility permissions by the 2nd week of the semester in which NUR 651 and NUR 652 is scheduled
- Maintain self-direction to meet timeline and quality expectations
- Accept ongoing constructive feedback and work in collaboration with Capstone Facilitator
- Adhere to Alvernia University's academic honesty and ethical standards
- Participate in a process evaluation of Capstone experience, if requested by Graduate Program Director
- Achieve at least 100 hours completing Capstone. Keep track of the time spent on Capstone related activities
- Prepare and present project to a minimum audience of nursing faculty and peers

#### Roles and Responsibilities of Capstone Facilitator

- Conduct an initial meeting for guidance in finalizing the Capstone topic
- Approve Capstone timeline
- Provide ongoing guidance and feedback related to all aspects of the Capstone, including IRB
- Have a minimum of two contacts per month with student
- Support the student in maintaining timeline for implementation
- Give student advice and support related to logistics of implementation
- Preview, approve, and attend presentation at MSN Capstone Presentations
- Assign course grade based on MSN Capstone Program Assignment Rubric

## **MSN Program Capstone Project Approval**

Student Name:					
Student Contact Information: Address:					
Work Phone #:					
Home Phone #:					
Cell Phone #:					
Advisement and Capstone Process (Getting Started):					
Topic/Title:					
Timeline: 1.					
2.					
3.					
4.					
5.					
Expected Approvals/Permissions to be obtained, if applicable:					
1.					
2.					
Faculty Signature and Date:					
raculty Signature and Date:					
Student Signature and Date:					
Approval Granted:					
Graduate Program Director or designee					
Signature and Date:					

## **Capstone Assessment Rubric**

Outcomes	Competent (B to B+)	Expert (A- to A)
	PROJECT	
Topic Selection congruent with Nursing and Educational Theory and Practice or Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration Theory and Practice	Identifies a focused and manageable topic that addresses relevant aspects of nursing education or nursing leadership	Identifies a creative, focused, and manageable topic that addresses potentially significant yet previously lessexplored aspects of the topic
	PAPER	
Design process congruent with topic, Nursing and Educational Theory and Practice or Nursing Leadership and Healthcare Administration Theory and Practice	Appropriately developed critical elements of the methodology or theoretical framework; however, more subtle elements are ignored or unaccounted for	Skillfully developed all elements of the methodology and theoretical framework
Ethics		Demonstrates a full understanding of the ethical and legal restrictions on the use of published, confidential, and /or proprietary information  Conducts all educational research and clinical activities with honesty and integrity; reflects behavior that is congruent with the value and dignity of every human being  Independently applies ethical perspectives/concepts to an ethical question; accurately, and is able to consider full implication of the application
Research Skills	Presents in-depth information from relevant sources representing various points of view/approaches	Synthesizes in-depth information for relevant sources representing various points of view/approaches
Communication Skills: Written	Correctly uses 80-90% of the following using guidelines established by APA: use of citations and references, choice of paraphrasing, summary or quoting, using information in ways that are true to original context	Correctly uses all of the following using guidelines established by APA: use of citations and references, choice of paraphrasing, summary or quoting, using information in ways that are true to original context

<b>.</b>		1
	Communicates and organizes	Communicates, organizes, and synthesizes
	information from sources. The	information from sources to fully achieve
	information is somewhat synthesized.	the project purpose, with
	Intended purpose is achieved	clarity and depth
	PRESENTATION	
Communication Skills:	Demonstrates an organizational	Demonstrates an organizational pattern
Oral	pattern (specific introduction and	(specific introduction and conclusion,
	conclusion, sequenced material within	sequenced material within the body and
	the body and transitions) that is clearly	transitions) that is clearly and consistently
	and mostly observable within the	observable and is skillful making the
	presentation	content of the presentation cohesive
	Exhibits deliver techniques (posture,	Exhibits delivery techniques (posture,
	gesture, eye contact, and vocal	gesture, eye contact, and vocal expressions)
	expressions) that make the	that make the presentation compelling;
	presentation understandable, and	speaker appears polished and
	speaker appears comfortable	confident
	PROFESSIONALISM AS A NURSE EDUC	ATOR/LEADER
Leadership,	Works somewhat effectively in among	Works highly effectively among leadership
Communication, and	leadership structures in academic and	structures in academic and practice settings
Collaboration	practice settings in order to achieve project goal	in order to achieve project goal
	Needs reminded to adhere to timeline	Consistent adherence to timeline as listed
	outlined on Capstone project approval form	on Capstone approval form
	Identifies and acknowledges conflict	Addresses conflict in constructive way,
	and stays engaged with it	helping to manage/resolve it in a way that strengthens relationships, cohesiveness and
	Treats individuals with dignity and	future effectiveness
	respect	Treats individuals with dignity and respect
	Serves as a role model for professional	Serves as a role model for professional
	nursing or education	nursing or education
COMMENTS		
FINAL GRADE FOR THE CO	OURSE:	
CAPSTONE FACILITATOR		
J J. J. I. I. AGILITATON		
DATE:		

#### Reference:

American Association of Colleges and Universities [AAC&U] (2010). *Value: Valid assessment of learning in undergraduate education*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.aacu.org/value/rubrics/InquiryAnalysis.cfm">http://www.aacu.org/value/rubrics/InquiryAnalysis.cfm</a>

#### STUDENT'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF HANDBOOK

I acknowledge receipt of the MSN Program Student Handbook containing the current policies and procedures of the Alvernia University Nursing Program . I understand that the Handbook is a compilation of policies and procedures in effect prior to publication of this Handbook. I further understand and agree that it is my responsibility to read and familiarize myself with these policies and procedures. I am aware that the Acting Graduate Program Directors, Chief Nursing Officer or designee are available to answer my questions that arise as a result of my review of the policies and procedures in the Handbook.

My signature on Canvas represents my acknowledgement that I have thoroughly read and understood the policies and my obligations under those policies and procedures and further represents my consent to conducting myself in a way consistent with the policies and procedures.

I understand that my enrollment in the MSN Program is conditional upon my compliance with the policies of this Handbook. I further understand that nothing in this Handbook creates or is intended to create a promise or representation of continued enrollment, and that policies and procedures contained herein may be changed by Alvernia University at any time.